Fouse of Commons Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics						
ETHI	•	NUMBER 014	•	3rd SESSION	•	40th PARLIAMENT
EVIDENCE						
Tuesday, May 11, 2010						
				C hair Paul Szabo		

Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics

Tuesday, May 11, 2010

• (1105)

[English]

The Chair (Mr. Paul Szabo (Mississauga South, Lib.)): Order. This is meeting number 14 of the Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics. Our orders of the day, pursuant to Standing Order 108(3)(h)(vi), are a study on allegations of interference in access to information requests.

I'd like to advise the committee that the clerk has had conversations with Mr. Soudas, who is to appear before us today. Mr. Soudas has a very busy schedule and was concerned about coming here this morning, having to sit for the whole meeting, and not being able to appear. He wanted some certitude about how he could use his time.

I've given him the undertaking that we will suspend any matters going on at the committee no later than noon and will bring him in as a witness to hear from him for the last hour of our meeting. Or, should this part with our first witness terminate earlier, we will contact Mr. Soudas to come down to the meeting so that we use the maximum amount of our time.

We will start now with our witnesses. We have appearing Mr. Sébastien Togneri, former parliamentary affairs director, Department of Public Works and Government Services. He's accompanied by his lawyer, Jean-François Lecours, a lawyer from Beauvais Truchon.

Mr. Togneri, I want to simply remind you that you are still under oath and that you can consult with your lawyer but he is not permitted to address the committee. I'd also like to reaffirm, as you know, that anything you say before this committee cannot be used against you in any other judicial proceedings.

I'd also like to confirm to you and to the committee that all parties that I'm aware of have received copies of the letter from the Information Commissioner, dated yesterday, which addresses your situation. I think it speaks for itself. I think we can proceed on the basis that parliamentary privilege permits this committee to proceed with questioning of the witness.

That said, we're going to move immediately to the first round.

Mr. Easter, please.

Hon. Wayne Easter (Malpeque, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

You did mention the letter from the Information Commissioner.

So I would hope that today, Mr. Togneri, that we indeed can get some pretty straightforward answers. We need to go back to some questions that were asked at the last meeting. At this committee you indicated that you recalled participating in meetings with the Prime Minister's Office's issues management branch. With regard to ATIP, you stated that you recalled being told that "we should be vigilant...do our job and review the access to information requests...".

When you intervened in the information request, did you believe that you had the authority from the PMO's issues management department to involve yourself in that access to information process?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri (Former Parliamentary Affairs Director, Department of Public Works and Government Services, As an Individual): I assume you're talking about the specific ATIP.

Hon. Wayne Easter: That you asked to be unreleased, that one, or, for that matter, any others.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No. Issues management.... When I said that issues management asked us to do our job, what they asked of us was, because we get ATIPs as information prior to their release, that we review the ATIPs and that we be ready to respond to questions, be they from media or questions that may be asked in the House.

So issues management don't ask us to intervene; they ask us to review the information and either go to communications or to communications people and ask them to create lines that can be used in the response of any question. But they never asked us to, you know, withhold information or to stop information. No.

Hon. Wayne Easter: So did they give you any advice, then, or information, on how to negotiate or persuade ATIP officers to release less information or delay the release of information?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, that would not be the case. I would again say that issues management would ask us to be prepared for issues that may come up as a result of release of access to information files.

Hon. Wayne Easter: Did you get any advice on providing the PCO or the PMO with regard to intervening in the access to information request?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm sorry, Mr. Chair. I'm not exactly sure what the question means....

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Well... Or maybe if you could be more specific...? I'm not sure what you mean.

Hon. Wayne Easter: Yes. Were you asked.... On access to information requests and in this case where you intervened and 137 pages became 30—I just forget the number of pages—were you asked to provide that information to PCO or PMO in terms of what was happening?

• (1110)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I never informed...well, I would never inform PCO. I don't have any contacts at PCO. But I never advised PMO on this ATIP file—

Hon. Wayne Easter: Would you—

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: —so I guess the answer would be no. There was no advice. I never informed them on that.

Hon. Wayne Easter: How many times would you have ordered a document requested under ATIP to be withheld or less information provided? Do you have any idea on those numbers?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I don't have the delegated authority to do that, so....

Hon. Wayne Easter: My last question, then, Mr. Chair.

Guy Giorno, the Prime Minister's chief of staff, appeared before this committee and was asked about instructions from the issues management branch no fewer than nine times, and at no point did Mr. Giorno state that exempt staff were to be vigilant requesting ATIP requests. He did say "political staff...are not told to do anything related to an access to information request".

It therefore appears that your statements to this committee and those of Mr. Giorno place you and the chief of staff to the Prime Minister in contradictory positions. Can you square that circle for us?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I don't think they are contradictory. He might not have used the same language as I did at my last committee appearance, but again, issues management is.... We discuss issues, and if an ATIP is going to be an issue, then it's discussed. There's no strategy.... There was never.... As far as I know, there was never any strategy to delay or obstruct ATIPs. It was simply.... Issues management is simply there to make sure that we're ready to respond to issues that may arise in the media or the House or wherever. So I don't see how we contradict each other.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you.

I'm going to encourage questioners and the answers to be crisp. This is taking a little bit long....

But I'm going to move now to Madame Freeman, please.

[Translation]

Mrs. Carole Freeman (Châteauguay—Saint-Constant, BQ): Good morning, Mr. Togneri.

I want to ask you a question about your responsibilities further to your mandate. Do you know Tom Makichuk?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: What were his duties?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I think he is director of access to information at the Department of Public Works and Government Services.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Did you have dealings with him involving access to information requests?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, I saw him from time to time.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: When would you see him?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I saw him at meetings.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Did those meetings focus on certain access to information requests?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No. We would meet once a week regarding access to information requests.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: What was the purpose of those meetings?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: They were to decide.... Since the Department of Public Works and Government Services had a number of access to information requests, we would discuss those the department wanted to see.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Those that the minister's office wanted to see?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, as well as the deputy minister's office.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: The deputy minister's office and the minister's office wanted to see certain access to information requests, and the access to information coordinator was the person appointed by the minister to administer the act in question in that department.

• (1115)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Is that a question?

Mrs. Carole Freeman: I am coming to my question. When you would meet, how would you determine when to intervene or examine access to information requests more closely? Did it depend on the identity of the requester or the nature of the request?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: A bit of both. We had a list of files and.... Yes. So there were.... There are files that are not contentious....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: No, I am talking about the ones that are contentious.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, so we....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: I will give you an example: the 132-page document you intercepted was censored on 30 pages. Who censored it?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I have no idea.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You intercepted the document; who did you give it to?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Forgive me, but you will have to be more specific. I do not understand the question.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You are here today because you recalled a document to keep it from being released in its original form. Are you aware of that?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You sent an email requesting that the document be retrieved from the mail.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I did not block.... I did not censor any document.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You asked that the document be intercepted. Who was the document given to?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I do not understand: who was it given to....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Mr. Togneri, you sent an email requesting that a document not be released, that it be recalled. No doubt, it was a document whose content might have been disturbing to some. So you intercepted it. In fact, you gave the order to have it intercepted. Once it was intercepted, who took possession of the document to censor it?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I have to say.... I....

The last time I was here, I said that I made an error in judgment and that I....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: I agree that you made an error in judgment. I am not questioning that.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, but....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: What I want to know is this: Who was the intercepted 132-page document given to to be censored? You sent an email to have the document intercepted. So someone intercepted it and brought it to you. If the person did not bring it to you, who did they give it to be censored?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I did not request that a document be censored. And....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: No, you asked that it be intercepted. You had a document intercepted so that it would be returned to your offices. Who was the document given to?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I do not know. I am not sure where the document went exactly.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Do you know who censored the document?

• (1120)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I have no idea.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You have no idea? You are admitting under oath that you have no idea what happened to the document that you requested be intercepted in order for it to be returned to the minister's office. You have no idea what happened to the document.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I do not know.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You are not aware of anything?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I do not know what happened to the document.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: You did not handle the document? You did not read it, withhold it or make changes to it? You did not do anything to the document in question?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Thank you for your question.

Again, I do not know. The

Mrs. Carole Freeman: That is interesting because you did not receive any order. According to your claims, according to your

testimony, you did not receive any directive to intercept the document. You intercepted it. The document came back to the minister's office. The 132-page document was censored on 32 pages. And you are not aware of anything that happened.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, that is not....

Mrs. Carole Freeman: So who gave you the order? Someone gave you the order. You made a mistake, as you said. If it were just a mistake, you would have handed over the document, you would have given it back in its original 132-page form.

Did you receive a directive to retrieve the document so that it could be censored?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: The document was not returned to the minister's office.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Where did it go?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I do not know. I imagine....

I do not know, I really do not know.

Mrs. Carole Freeman: But, Mr. Togneri, you requested that the document be intercepted. Surely, you followed up on the document, did you not?

The Chair: Fine, thank you.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No. I do not know where it went. [*English*]

The Chair: All right. I'm sure we're going to explore this.

Mr. Siksay.

Mr. Bill Siksay (Burnaby-Douglas, NDP): Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Togneri, I have to continue with that same line of questioning because it's.... I appreciate Madame Freeman's frustration. Here we have a situation where, for some reason, you felt that this document needed to be recalled and you took the initiative to recall that document. Yet now you say you have no idea what happened to it after you took the initiative to recall that document. Is that correct?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: That's correct.

Mr. Bill Siksay: So you felt that it was your job somehow to intercept that document, but you had no interest in what happened to it after you intercepted it?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: If you'll allow me to explain myself.... Again, I made a mistake and I sent a hurried e-mail quickly after that happened. What happened with the specific ATIP was that it was a specific request, and when I received the request I gave it to someone in my office, who reviewed it, and I was told that they weren't sure what the answer had to do with the request. I asked that and I got an answer. And specifically, I was told that section—I believe it was chapter 11—had to do with the request, out of the entire document—

The Chair: Order.

Mr. Togneri-

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes?

The Chair: —I think we seem to be rambling through some things. I think Mr. Siksay has precise questions. I think we had better let him satisfy himself on each element rather than you trying to anticipate his questions, okay?

ETHI-14

So I'm going to turn it back to Mr. Siksay and maybe he can ask you the first question he wants you to answer.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Mr. Togneri, your answer is raising a number of other questions. You said that you delegated the responsibility for reviewing this document to someone else in your office. Who did you delegate that to?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: To a policy adviser, Jillian Andrews, and-

Mr. Bill Siksay: Is she political staff or departmental staff?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: She is political staff.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Okay. So more than one political staff person was involved in reviewing this particular ATI request.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Okay.

You said that you realized you made a mistake and that's why you sought the recall of this document. What was the mistake that you made? How would you define the mistake that you made?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Well, my mistake was.... I thought what was going out.... I didn't realize—and I should have known this—that if part of a document is relevant, then the entire document is relevant, and I made the mistake that if section 11 was relevant, then the entire section was relevant. And that's.... You know, I sent those hurried e-mails.

• (1125)

Mr. Bill Siksay: But, Mr. Togneri, you've told us that you had no responsibility for reviewing the content of documents—only to prepare the minister for a response to what was released. So why were you even concerned about what was in the document other than in terms of it meeting some requirements? Why...? Were you not just working on a response for the minister, some lines for the minister?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm not really sure I understand the question....

Mr. Bill Siksay: You explained to us that you were involved in recalling the document because you believed that there was more information than was necessary, but is that question not outside of what your responsibilities were, as you've testified earlier?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: It is, and that was my mistake.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Well, when I asked specifically what your mistake was, you said that there was more information in it than should have been, but then—

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Well, that's what I thought. I was wrong. It was quickly explained.... After I had sent this e-mail, it was quickly explained to me that if part of a document is relevant, then the entire document is relevant. That was explained to me. I was fine with that.

It was also explained to me that they can explain this, they can.... They, as in the ATIP officers, can work with the requester to make sure they get exactly what they want. In cases where an ATIP file is voluminous, as it was in this case, they can work with them and say, "Well, we can give you just what you want or we can charge you extra and get the entire document". I suggested, well, perhaps that can be done; it would save the requester money. I made no directives after that. I made no orders or anything. The Chair: Mr. Togneri-

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: So I accepted the fact that-

The Chair: Order, please.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: ----the request was complete----

The Chair: Order.

Okay. Mr. Togneri, I think we're going to have to shorten up these answers and focus on the questions that Mr. Siksay is anxious to get at. You've repeated a couple of things a couple of times and I think we should stop the repetition.

Okay. On a point of order, Mr. Holder.

Mr. Ed Holder (London West, CPC): Yes. Thank you very much, Chair.

It is my understanding that committee members have great latitude in asking our witnesses various questions. I would presume that if Mr. Siksay had a concern about how the questions were being answered, it would be incumbent upon him—versus you—to be able to bring that point forward, because you give us, as committee members, the latitude for all of these things. Presumably he has the latitude to respond, and if Mr. Siksay is not comfortable with it, I'd presume he would be the one to respond to that.

The Chair: Well, thank you. That's not a point of order.

Mr. Siksay, please.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Mr. Togneri, I am concerned that you do seem to be very involved in deciding exactly what gets released, not just preparing a response for the minister to respond to information that was released, and the decision having been made by departmental ATI officials. So I am very concerned.

I'm also kind of wondering why it was any concern of yours to save the requester money and why that would even be a consideration in this. Did somebody direct you to save requesters money as part of your job?

• (1130)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, not at all. I had a conversation after I had sent this e-mail and that was brought up. I wasn't aware that, you know, ATI could work with the requester to get more specific and to do that.... But it was brought up, so....

Mr. Bill Siksay: Had you done this at other times? Did you have this kind of conversation about what would be released or make suggestions about saving other clients or other requesters money on other requests that came across your desk? Was that a regular part of how you functioned?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Sorry, your first part of your.... On the second part of your question, I had no idea about this before. I don't know how to answer the first part—

Mr. Bill Siksay: Surely this wasn't the only ATI request that you-

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. Siksay. I apologize.

We have to move on to Mr. Poilievre.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre (Nepean—Carleton, CPC): Thank you very much, Mr. Togneri, for appearing before the committee today and for offering testimony.

I'd like to start with the broader policy discussion on which this committee has focused for some time.

So let's start at the rudimentary level. Are you aware of the Federal Accountability Act?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, I am.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Okay. Are you aware of the provisions contained therein regarding the Access to Information Act?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm vaguely aware, yes.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Sure. I mean, to be more specific, the Federal Accountability Act provided amendments to the Access to Information Act. Are you aware of some of those amendments?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm vaguely aware, yes.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Can you tell us about your knowledge of those amendments?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, I can't.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: I'm sorry—

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm not that well versed on the Federal Accountability Act—

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Fair enough—

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: —other than that more federal agencies are covered under the Federal Accountability Act. That's what I know the most, like Canada Post—-

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Right, and in fairness, I don't want to.... This isn't a pop quiz, and if it were, you got the right answer. The Federal Accountability Act added a whole series of agencies and bodies of government that were not originally included under the Access to Information Act. Several dozen organizations are now covered by Access to Information that were not previously.

There's a broader discussion now about additional changes to the act that could be considered. The access to information commissioner has opinions. The previous commissioner, Mr. John Reid, had opinions on how the system should be amended. The Auditor General had made certain representations to the government about changes to the Access to Information Act.

I wonder, given your experience around the parliamentary system, if you have any suggestions for the committee.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Not being an expert in ATI...I don't think I'm an expert to respond to that. I would think that the committee is far more experienced to make suggestions to amend it than I am. I know that ATI at Public Works worked very well. I guess that's all I have to say. I'm not exactly sure of specific changes that need to be made, but....

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: In fact, Public Works did experience tremendous improvement in the ratings of the Information Commissioner in her report card that was recently released. I don't

have that report in front of me, but I will have it for my next round of questioning. Perhaps we could examine how the various departments could be making continual improvements in how they serve Canadians regarding access to information.

Tell us which ministries you have experience working in.

• (1135)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I have experience working in Public Works and now in Natural Resources.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: In both of those ministries, obviously access to information is important to the Canadian people.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes, absolutely.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Would you say there is a high degree of priority given to transparency and openness at both of those ministries?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: At Public Works, definitely.

I did not deal with ATIP for very long at Natural Resources, but they had some excellent people there. So I would say, despite the bad mark that Natural Resources had, I believe they're dedicated to transparency and to improving the record that the department has now.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Right.

Now, Chair, how much time do I have?

The Chair: One minute.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: One minute?

Given that we are running low on time at this point, I'd like to seek your insights on how committees could better interact with ministers' offices and ministries in general. Do you have any suggestions given that you have now experienced both a ministry and a parliamentary committee?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Well.... I'm happy to be here and I respect Parliament in this case, but if I had my choice, I would prefer that ministers appear here instead of staff. But that's my personal view.

On how to improve communication, well, again, I'm not an expert on dealing with requests of committees. I think we answer our questions well for the committees and I think the ministers appear when they have something relevant to say, and I think that's a good job.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll have to move on to Mr. Valeriote.

You have five minutes, sir.

Mr. Francis Valeriote (Guelph, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Togneri, for appearing here today. It sounds to me like perhaps somebody else's conduct or judgment has put you in this hot seat today, but....

You answered a question from Mr. Easter and said you didn't have the authority to unrelease that report, but nevertheless you did it. Nevertheless you did it. I'm wondering how many other times you may have exceeded that authority. Can you tell me how many other times you may have exceeded that authority?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: My...this incident...I...it wasn't my intention to delay or obstruct or.... Again, I was wrong in the fact that I did not understand the law fully and that I thought I was....

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Okay. Are you telling us that's the only time you did it, Mr. Togneri? Is that the only time that you intervened, yes or no?

• (1140)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: In my...yes, it's the only time that I.... This was, you know...this was a mistake I made—

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Is it the only time you intervened, yes or no? You're taking up a lot of time, Mr. Togneri. Yes or no? Please.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I wanted to give exactly what the demand...what *le requérant* wanted, and in my mind, yes, the only time I intervened, but I don't have—

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Okay. You said you had no point of contact at the PCO. Who is your point of contact at the PMO's issues management office? And if there's more than one, please give me the names.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Could you be more precise on the timeframe?

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Who is the person with whom you communicate at the PMO's issues management office? You are in communication with them.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: In what—

Mr. Francis Valeriote: In any capacity.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, sorry. In what time period are you talking about?

Mr. Francis Valeriote: At that time period.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I believe it was Isabelle Bouchard.

Mr. Francis Valeriote: All right.

Now, have you ever suggested to an ATIP officer or departmental official that they have not applied the Access to Information Act correctly?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I don't recollect. I don't.... I don't know. I don't think so.

Mr. Francis Valeriote: You don't know. You don't think so. It may have happened, though.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Again, I don't think so.

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Have you ever urged an ATIP officer or departmental official to make greater redactions or to withhold documents that were not requested in a very specific manner?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I....

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Have you ever urged an ATIP officer or departmental official to make greater redactions or to withhold documents that were not requested in a very specific manner?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I don't recall. No, I don't think so. Either way, I didn't have delegated authority to do so.

Mr. Francis Valeriote: Yes, you've already told us that, yet you usurped that authority nevertheless.

How many ATIP requests did you or the ministerial exempt staff at Public Works suggest go to PCO under the guise of information release, harming provincial or international relations, during your time working for the minister?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I.... Can you repeat the question?

Mr. Francis Valeriote: How many ATIP requests did you or the ministerial exempt staff at Public Works suggest go to PCO under the guise of information release, harming provincial or international relations, during your time working for the minister?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I don't know if I did. I don't think so.

Mr. Francis Valeriote: All right.

So on your own volition, you took a 137-page document and unreleased it, which was ultimately reduced down to 30 or so pages. What prompted you to do that? Had you read the document before?

The Chair: Thank you-

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I didn't do that. I don't redact documents. We get ATI files for our information. I don't know what happens to them after we see them, but.... So I didn't redact them. I didn't redact it to 30 pages. I didn't do that, so I—

• (1145)

The Chair: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Togneri.

You made a statement, and I wanted to understand your intent or your communication to the committee. You said, and I quote—and the research assistant has been keying this in as well—"...it wasn't my intention to delay or obstruct.... Again, I was wrong in the fact that I did not understand the law fully...".

I want to make sure that this is not misinterpreted by anyone. It would appear to say that you understand that you delayed or obstructed, but because of your lack of information of the law, you inadvertently made that mistake. Is that what you're saying, sir?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Just to clarify, I thought that.... And again, I was ignorant of the law. I thought that because it was section 11 that had to do with their request, only section 11 should be released. I was wrong in that. And I was ignorant of the law in the sense that I didn't realize.... I had not been confronted with a situation before where it was...you know, if one section is relevant, then the entire section is relevant.

So in this case, I believe it was chapter 11 of a report, and I mean, I was wrong to think that only that section would be released. I was trying to make sure or.... I was trying to see if the...to make sure that the requester was getting what they were asking for. Again, I was wrong to think that only section 11 or chapter 11 of this report would be released instead of...instead of the whole report.

The Chair: Instead of the whole report. Okay. So for clarity, you say that your error was that you misinterpreted the law with regard to section 11 applicability to the whole thing. So we'll accept that.

But at the start you said that it wasn't your intention to delay or obstruct. That might be interpreted by some to be an admission that you did, either advertently or inadvertently, delay or obstruct. Is that the case?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I—

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Mr. Chair, a point of order.

The Chair: I will get to it.

Answer the question, please.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: I have a point of order.

The Chair: Okay. I will get to it as soon as we finish-

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: You're trying to make a statement on behalf of the witness—

The Chair: No, I've asked a question.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: —which is—

The Chair: No, I've asked a question.

I'm asking the question.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: You made a statement.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I'm sorry. Do I respond? Yes?

Okay. Can you just repeat it so that I have it clearly?

The Chair: Mr. Valeriote had asked this and your response was.... I'm trying to get clarification as to what your intent was, to communicate to this committee what the meaning is of what you said. You explained the last part of it. But the first part of what you said was, and I quote, "...it wasn't my intention to delay or obstruct...".

• (1150)

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes.

The Chair: Does that imply—and I'm asking you to please advise us—that you understand that you did delay or obstruct?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No. No, it doesn't. But-

The Chair: Okay. Sir, I'll take your answer-

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: —just to clarify, though, I didn't know what happened. I didn't know that it took two months, two and a half months, to release this. I didn't know that only part of a document would be released.

What I was told by ATI officers was that they could work with the requester to get either exactly what they wanted for the initial \$5 fee or they could charge the requester the amount of money it takes—which I think in this case was about \$30—for the entire report. I didn't know after that conversation that it would take two and a half months and, as it says in the media reports, the requester wasn't given the choice, wasn't contacted, and I don't know why that didn't happen.

The Chair: Okay.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: So I didn't know that.

The Chair: Thank you, sir. I appreciate your clarifying that for the committee.

Mr. Rickford, please.

Mr. Greg Rickford (Kenora, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Again, thank you to the witness for reappearing at this committee. I can assure the witness today that I'm going to ask questions and make commentary, and you're free to answer to the extent that I'm satisfied with the answer. I will not tolerate the chair intervening on that basis. I want you to feel comfortable with that.

I also want to apologize for some of the things that have been rather unusual, going back to the last meeting and in fact occurring at this meeting, to the extent that you were compelled to be sworn in. All witnesses at the committee have an obligation at law to speak the truth and the whole truth. So I apologize for the political charade that we appear to be going through.

Furthermore, the chair of this committee actually went public with comments to the media that you would be threatened with contempt. And today, as we've seen, he's actually denying your ability to give answers that at no point today have actually been interrupted by any of the members of this committee, except for one of my colleagues across the way. And the general tone of these questions has been heavily politicized. I might remark and add that the same level of courage, if you will, was not demonstrated when the minister was here, who's the one who's really supposed to be answering these questions and did so at previous meetings with respect to these issues. This kind of intimidation, sir, I apologize for, on behalf of all parliamentarians.

I appreciate, furthermore, the willingness of this government to have ministers and their staff come before this committee and answer questions in what we thought—and hoped for—would be in nonpoliticized way. I think it's fair to say that had we had this sort of transparency in years gone by, Canadians wouldn't be asking where the heck their \$39 million went in the Liberal Adscam. Unfortunately, that wasn't available to—

I'm timing it, Mr. Chair. It's okay. I have a sense of where I'm going with this....

Well, it's important, because the clock has been stopped when the witness has been consulting his lawyer, another unusual event, I think.

I have a series of questions here for you. You acknowledged at the last meeting and today that you made a mistake. Did you make a mistake?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I did make a mistake. Yes.

Mr. Greg Rickford: And you've also acknowledged that you did nothing of substance with the document. Is that correct?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: That's right. Yes.

Mr. Greg Rickford: Is there anything you want to add to that?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: I made a mistake. I don't know what happened to the documents. I don't redact. I never redact. I can't—

• (1155)

Mr. Greg Rickford: That's my next question, so this is an example of the committee member intervening. I'm satisfied with the answer that you gave me.

So you're saying for the record that you didn't redact the document.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: That's right. Yes.

Mr. Greg Rickford: It sounds to me like you were going to add a few extra thoughts there.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: No, not really, other than there was never any intention to delay or obstruct. So as far as I know...I'm just anxious to see the report of the Information Commissioner.

Mr. Greg Rickford: I believe you mentioned that this is the only time you had an experience like this.

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Yes. Yes, in many different ways, but yes.

Mr. Greg Rickford: Okay. And that you did not engage ATIP officials at any point in this process?

Mr. Sébastien Togneri: Could you be more precise on...?

Mr. Greg Rickford: Well, I'm just reviewing what you described earlier—

The Chair: There's the fire alarm.

Mr. Greg Rickford: It's getting hot in here, I guess.

Voices: Oh, oh!

The Chair: Order.

Continue.

Okay. The time has expired.

In the event that this is a real fire alarm, we have to leave, but I want to indicate that the members still have questions, Mr. Togneri. As a consequence I am unable to discharge you from the summons, and it would appear that I can't give you a time to come back.

But the committee will advise you as to when you will be asked to reappear to complete the questioning by the members.

I'm going to suspend this meeting until we determine what's happening. Mr. Soudas is here, though.

(Pause)

٠

• (1220)

The Chair: Order. We have resumed the meeting.

Colleagues, our meeting is normally scheduled to end at one o'clock. Mr. Soudas is still with us and has agreed to spend one hour with us to make a brief opening statement, and we'll get in our two rounds of questions if we just keep everything nice and tight.

But extending the meeting time has to be with the concurrence of the full committee. Does the committee wish to go to 1:25?

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: No.

The Chair: No, Mr. Poilievre?

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: That's right.

The Chair: Okay. Unfortunately, then, we cannot do that.

Mr. Soudas, thank you. I apologize for the disruption. I certainly respect your time schedule, and I will be in contact with you to arrange another date after the break week, as we have other business on Thursday already scheduled.

Thank you, sir.

What I'd like to do, then, is spend a little bit of time reviewing with the committee what we're doing on Thursday.

I'm not sure if the clerk has this, but on Thursday, May 13, Mr. Sparrow is appearing as the first witness. Following, we have the officials, Ms. Valladao.... And then is it Mr. Trottier or is the other person back? There's also Mr. Larose, whom Ms. Valladao had asked to accompany her. They will appear as a panel in the second hour.

Then we have the break week. Our first meeting back would be June 1. I'm going to make every attempt to get Mr. Soudas to appear. He actually would be the last witness that we have on our approved witness schedule.

I would certainly inquire...or entertain that if there were any other witnesses the members feel are essential to have here before the committee, they certainly can raise that for the committee's consideration. You might want to give some thought to that.

We also have two other items that have been carried forward on our agenda. One is the Google Street View report, Mr. Poilievre's project, and Canpages. We have the draft report. To the extent that we have no witnesses with regard to the current study, we will first go to that.

Secondly, we will have Madame Freeman lead us through the issue that she has raised with regard to order-in-council matters. We'll have a little discussion, and I hope members will understand that when we get back from the break week, I want to discharge that request from the member, that we deal with it. You have handout documents, etc.

There is no other business, other than the Minister of Justice, from whom we have received the two reports on the quick fixes: one to the Privacy Act, and the second to the Access to Information Act. I think all members have those responses from the minister.

You will note that the minister did not, however, provide, as requested, dates. The committee had requested that he appear before us for one hour on each report, either at one meeting or two separate meetings, at his choice; we would give him some freedom.

I spoke to him personally yesterday. He said, "Oh yes, I remember, I'll put it in the hopper". So I will be writing to him again and offering him pretty well any of these dates for the balance before the summer, to give him the latitude to be able to schedule his affairs to appear before us on those two important reports, so we can tidy that matter up.

• (1225)

Hon. Wayne Easter: Chair, I just have a question.

How many times have you written him already? When a parliamentary committee asks a minister, we expect the minister to come. We see this at other committees, too. Why the reluctance?

The Chair: I can't answer on behalf of the minister. We can only request that the minister appear.

I'm confident that we will be able to find a time for him to be here. This is not overly time sensitive, but I certainly think the committee will want to have an opportunity to hear from him, to ask him any questions they have with regard to the reports, and if necessary, make a further report to the House on one, or both, or none of those reports. It's up to the committee as to what its intent would be.

There are a couple of other matters that are ongoing. Certainly, there is our work on the proactive disclosure, or maybe we'll have to rename that the "open government project". The researchers have given us some suggestions in terms of witnesses, and I would suggest that we are going to try to schedule so that we have work for at least that first week.

People were suggested from Treasury Board, I believe ...?

Ms. Alysia Davies (Committee Researcher): There's a whole list, Mr. Chair. It's up to the committee.

The Chair: The key ones, but we will find internally as to the status of what work is going on in regard to open government issues or proactive disclosure.

Mr. Poilievre.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Yes, the nomenclature is important, because it determines the scope of our study. I understood we were studying proactive disclosure, which is a very precise policy area covered under the broader umbrella of access to information.

"Open government" is a very general term and could lead the study into all manner of directions. So I'm asking that we stay narrowly focused on the nature of the study as it was defined by the committee.

The Chair: I have a feeling that we're all going to discover that this whole area is enormous and that we have to be very realistic about what we can deal with.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: That's right.

The Chair: I think we have to keep it focused. I agree with you. That's my reading of it. We should seek to somehow bring our initial thinking on this project to some sort of an interim conclusion and maybe make a brief report to the House with regard to what we've been studying and indicate—

• (1230)

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Yes, on proactive disclosure.

The Chair: Yes, on proactive disclosure.

Then, over the summer, we would be able to give more detailed instructions to our support staff and the researchers to arrange a more comprehensive game plan for the committee to consider.

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Right.

The Chair: That would be circulated before we return and we would come prepared to make commitments to meetings. When we come back after the summer, we would certainly also have a steering committee meeting, but I believe that with the annual report is still to

come.... I'm not sure when the five-year legislative review on the Lobbying Act is going to be referred to us from the House, but it may also be a matter that we can initially consider and give instructions to the researchers with regard to determining a proposed approach for doing the review for scheduling after the summer.

We're pretty flexible here. I probably will have a steering committee meeting on coming up with a recommendation for the consideration of the committee on the balance of the meetings up to June 22.

Mr. Siksay.

Mr. Bill Siksay: Chair, I just want to say that I don't believe the committee had intended to have a very narrow focus on the disclosure question. My understanding was certainly that we were talking about that broader discussion and not limiting it to the way the government defines proactive disclosure or has used the term "proactive disclosure".

I just want to be clear that we were looking at something broader, although I agree that we have to define that, and we haven't done that work yet. The steering committee would be the place to start focusing on some particular issues in that.

The Chair: Thank you for that. I think we do need to have that conversation so that everybody is onside as to exactly how we chunk this as we move forward; I think we have to take it in steps.

The first part would certainly be to educate ourselves, so that as we engage witnesses or travel to Washington or Quebec, say, we should be able to engage them on very detailed and specific matters based on the work we'll have done. The first part will certainly be education and helping us to define where we want to be.

Let's put it this way. This will be a living document, as it were. We're not defined very fully right now, but we will deal with it.

Madame Freeman, if you could come prepared after the break to lead a discussion on the area of order-in-council appointments, I would like to deal with that. I don't want it to sit on our agenda for very much longer. I've been very patient.

[Translation]

Mrs. Carole Freeman: No, it will not take very long.

[English]

The Chair: Okay. So we'll try to do it early after the break.

[Translation]

Mrs. Carole Freeman: But I just want to check something regarding proactive disclosure, so that it is clear. When will we discuss the issue? The steering committee has to meet. Since I had provided a rather comprehensive list of witnesses, I thought we would do an in-depth study of that issue as well, and not just spend one or two meetings on it.

What were you planning? When did you plan to discuss the matter?

[English]

The Chair: After the break week we have to slot in Mr. Soudas and Mr. Togneri and any other witnesses that may be considered.

[Translation]

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Yes.

[English]

The Chair: Then, as far as I understand and am aware of now, we will have completed the witness phase. I'm going to ask the researchers if they would begin over the break week to prepare a draft report of the witness summary, etc.

Ms. Alysia Davies: Do you mean a summary of the evidence, Mr. Chairman?

The Chair: Yes, a summary of the evidence that we have so far, and we will try to bring that matter to a report, because the motion did call for a report to the House.

• (1235)

[Translation]

Mrs. Carole Freeman: Very well.

[English]

The Chair: With regard to your item, once I get those two witnesses and the Minister of Justice in—I want to give them all the flexibility to plug those people in to our remaining meetings before the summer—I will be able to advise the committee of when we will have this discussion again, just a round table discussion, about the proactive disclosure, based on what was recommended by our steering committee and adopted by the committee.

Because we've had all this other activity, I think we have to just refresh ourselves about what we talked about, what we agreed to do, and how we will proceed from there forward. We do want to make sure that the meetings are used. Certainly one of the meetings would be to have one or two of the government departmental areas that are already doing work in relation to proactive disclosure. We want to see what they're doing, what those kinds of things are.

Mr. Poilievre, you had a point?

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: Yes. I know that I raised a point earlier about the nature of the committee's study. I don't want to put too fine a point on it, but the committee did make a specific decision on April 1, 2010, for which I do have the recorded minutes. They state, "It was agreed, — That the Committee undertake a study on Proactive Disclosure."

"Proactive Disclosure" is displayed as a proper noun, with a capital P and a capital D, meaning that it has specific properties to it.

The committee can study anything it wants. If the committee wants to put forward a new motion to study open government or the Ten Commandments or the BNA Act or the nature of democracy itself.... There are any number of broad subject areas that we can commence a study on, given that we are in fact the masters of our own domain. The point is, we didn't decide to study any of those aforementioned things; we decided to discuss proactive disclosure.

The Chair: I think I raised that terminology of open government simply because when we had the Information Commissioner before us she tended to suggest that "open government" might be a better or more reflective terminology for what the intent is, for what target we're intending to address.

I guess it really comes down to how we change the administration of access requests to deal with backlogs and high volume, etc., so that in fact the matters which still must be requested are those where there is reason to believe they should not be fully released. It's a very good question. When we have our first open slot for that subject matter, those are the kinds of questions, I think, that we should review and reaffirm so that everybody's on the same wavelength, okay? I agree with you. We'll make your case there, let the members speak, and the committee will decide our course of action.

Is there anything further for the committee?

No? Good. We're adjourned-

Oh, sorry, Mr. Siksay.

A voice: We're unadjourning.

The Chair: I'm unreleasing-

Mr. Bill Siksay: Chair, since the Google Street View report has been on our agenda for weeks now and we still have time—and I don't think it's going to take a lot of time—could we not deal with that report now and try to sign off on it?

Mr. Pierre Poilievre: [Inaudible—Editor]...prepared on that.

Mr. Bill Siksay: But it's been on the agenda for weeks, Chair, and it's on the agenda for today as well.

The Chair: Yes.

Mr. Bill Siksay: It's on the agenda.

The Chair: It's been carried forward.

Mr. Siksay, I should have but couldn't have anticipated where we would be right now, and I think I can understand that the members probably don't even have their copy of the draft report here to do it justice.

But I do want to get that dealt with. I would encourage members to bring it to every subsequent meeting should we have 10 or 15 minutes to work with. Okay?

Thank you.

We're adjourned.

MAIL 🍃 POSTE

Canada Post Corporation / Société canadienne des postes

Postage paid Lettermail Port payé Poste–lettre 1782711 Ottawa

If undelivered, return COVER ONLY to: Publishing and Depository Services Public Works and Government Services Canada Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0S5

En cas de non-livraison, retourner cette COUVERTURE SEULEMENT à : Les Éditions et Services de dépôt Travaux publics et Services gouvernementaux Canada Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0S5

Published under the authority of the Speaker of the House of Commons

SPEAKER'S PERMISSION

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons and its Committees, in whole or in part and in any medium, is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accurate and is not presented as official. This permission does not extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this permission or without authorization may be treated as copyright infringement in accordance with the *Copyright Act*. Authorization may be obtained on written application to the Office of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not constitute publication under the authority of the House of Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceedings of the House of Commons does not extend to these permitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs to a Committee of the House of Commons, authorization for reproduction may be required from the authors in accordance with the *Copyright Act*.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of Commons and its Committees. For greater certainty, this permission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a reproduction or use is not in accordance with this permission.

Additional copies may be obtained from: Publishing and Depository Services Public Works and Government Services Canada Ottawa, Ontario K1A 085 Telephone: 613-941-5995 or 1-800-635-7943 Fax: 613-954-5779 or 1-800-565-7757 publications@tpsgc-pwgsc.gc.ca http://publications.gc.ca

Also available on the Parliament of Canada Web Site at the following address: http://www.parl.gc.ca

Publié en conformité de l'autorité du Président de la Chambre des communes

PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n'importe quel support, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu'elle ne soit pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n'est toutefois pas permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d'utiliser les délibérations à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une violation du droit d'auteur aux termes de la *Loi sur le droit d'auteur*. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur présentation d'une demande écrite au Bureau du Président de la Chambre.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne constitue pas une publication sous l'autorité de la Chambre. Le privilège absolu qui s'applique aux délibérations de la Chambre ne s'étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu'une reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d'obtenir de leurs auteurs l'autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi sur le droit d'auteur.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges, pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas l'interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibérations de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l'utilisateur coupable d'outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduction ou l'utilisation n'est pas conforme à la présente permission.

On peut obtenir des copies supplémentaires en écrivant à : Les Éditions et Services de dépôt Travaux publics et Services gouvernementaux Canada Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0S5 Téléphone : 613-941-5995 ou 1-800-635-7943

Télécopieur : 613-954-5779 ou 1-800-565-7757 publications@tpsgc-pwgsc.gc.ca http://publications.gc.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web du Parlement du Canada à l'adresse suivante : http://www.parl.gc.ca